Brief of Appellant

Filed 07-18-2007

Page 1 of 48

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT (I)



JUL 1 8 2007

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

plaintiff-respondent,

OF WISCONSIN 1

VS.

CIR.CT.NO:1995CF952095 COM M-14-07 APPEALS NO: 2007AP000795

Aaron A. Allen,

defendant-appellant.

An appeals from a judgment of conviction and sentence, and order denying motion for postconviction relief, entered in the circuit court of Milwaukee County on March 21,2007, the Honorable Dennis P. Moroney, PRESIDING.

BREIF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Aaron A. Allen
2925 Columbia Drive
P.O. BOX 900
Portage, Wi. 53901-0900
PRO-SE LITIGANT.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court incorrectly ruled, thus, erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Allen's Wis.Stat.974.06(4) postconviction motion under a mistaken view of the law that STATE V.

 TILLMAN, 696 n.w.2d 574 (wis.app.2005) stand for the proposition that a defendant who fails to [respond] to a No-Merit report would be procedurally barred by STATE V. ESCALONA-NARANJO, 185 wis.2d 169 (1994) in all subsequent postconviction proceedings?
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it ruled that Allen's 974.06(4) postconviction motion is barred by ESCALONA, supra.?
- 3. Whether Allen's postconviction counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to file a postconviction motion alleging that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress allen's arrest as illegal and violative of the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution?

 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ANSWER THE QUESTION!

4. Whether Allen's postconviction counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to file a postconviction motion alleging that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress the lineup identification as it was conducted in violation of allen's right to counsel pursuant to 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I,§7 and 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution? THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ANSWER THE QUESTION!

5. Whether Allen's postconviction counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to file a postconviction motion alleging that trial counsel should have objected to the state's use of allen's refusal to submit to the lineup as consciousness of guilt, based on the theory that the lineup itself was conducted in violation of allen's right to counsel and, thus, any evidence relevant to the lineup was also inadmissable?

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ANSWER THE QUESTION!

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On May 17,1995, the defendant appeared before the HON. John J. Valenti, Judicial Court Commissioner, on one count of Armed Robbery and one count of Felon In Possession Of Firearm(65:2). A preliminary hearing was held on May 23,1995, before the Hon. Anthony J. Machi, Judicial court commissioner and the court ultimately found probable cause as to each count and bound the defendant over for trial (66:6). The state filed an information(66:6,5:1), and the defendant entered a plea of not guilty and demanded a speedy trial (66:7).

The defendant eventually waived his right to a speedy trial due to a substitution of attorneys on August 14,1995, before the Hon. David A. Hansher (67:3). After numerous adjournments, the defendant reasserted his right to a speedy

trial on March 3,1997, before the Hon. Timothy J. Dugan (76:2). The speedy trial demand was subsequently with-drawn due to another changeover in attorneys and the defendant ultimately re-entered another speedy trial demand before the Hon. Raymond Gieringer on May 12,1997 (78:2).

This matter was tried January 12,1998, before the HON. David A. Hansher (83:2). That trial ended in a mistrial (84:52).

After another series of adjournments, this matter was retried by Jury to conclusion before the HON. John Dimotto on October 12-15,1998. On October 15,1998, the Jury returned verdicts of guilty as to each count (96:75-76).

On January 7,1999, the defendant appeared before Judge Dimotto for sentencing (93:64). The court sentenced the defendant to a term of thirty-seven(37) years in the Wisconsin State Prison on the Armed Robbery count, consecutive to any other term the defendant was serving, and sentenced the defendant to a term of two(2) years Prison on the Possession of a Firearm count, concurrent to the Armed Robbery count (93:61). On January 19,1999, the defendant filed a Notice of Intent To Pursue Postconviction Relief (57:1).

Rather than file the postconviction motion, postconviction counsel filed a rule 809.32 Wis.Stat.No-Merit report in the Court of Appeals on March 13,2000.

Defendant did not file a response to counsel's No-Merit report, and on August 1,2000, the Wisconsin Court Of Appeals, District 1,affirmed the circuit court's Judgment in a

Summary Disposition. No Petition For Review was taken to the Wisconsin Supreme Court from the court of appeals Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 14,1995, Aaron Allen(hereinafter referred to as "the defendant") called for a taxi to take him from an address on Sherman Avenue to the area of Appleton and Keefe Avenue in Milwaukee (91:54-55). Fred Owens, who operated what is known as a "lohnny cab" on that day, picked up the defendant at the sherman avenue address (91:52).

A "johnny cab" is an unlicensed and informal cab service run by retired persons who offer rides to people in their personal vehicles in exchange for money (91:52).

Owens noticed that the defendant had with him a white plastic bag that appeared to contain clothes when he picked him up (91:54). The defendant rode in the front right hand passenger side of owens in the 1989 cougar and kept the plastic bag between his knees during the trip (91:55).

It took approximately ten to fifteen minutes to get to the defendant's stop which was located at 6860 w.

Appleton Avenue (91:73). Owens denied they made any stops along the way (91:75). Once they arrived at the defendant's destination, the defendant asked owens how much he owed him (91:56). Owens told the defendant the ride would cost him \$7.00 (91:56). Owens then turned to his left to look out the driver's side window and felt something cold at the back of his head (91:57). According to owens, the

defendant was pointing what owens believed was a black 9mm pistol at the right rear portion of his head (91:57-58). Owens claimed the defendant told owens to "give me all your money or i'll blow your brains out" (91:57-58).

Owens claim he initially gave the defendant \$7.00 from a prior fare (91:58). Owens claimed the defendant then kept nudging him in the back of the head and demanded more money (91:58) and owens then gave the defendant \$350.00 from his front left pocket (91:58).

Owens identified the defendant in a police lineup the following day (91:98). Detective Ralph Spano conducted the lineup and testified that the defendant initially refused to participate in the lineup because he demanded his right to counsel presence during the lineup, but then ultimately and reluctantly cooperated once the detective warned that he would be forced to cooperate, if necessary, which would likely draw more attention to himself (91:101).

The defendant testified on his own behalf (91:160) and his version of events differ from owens. The defendant told the Jury that owens picked him up and drove him to the appleton avenue address (91:172). That along the way, they stopped at a red light on Capital Avenue and were approached by some individuals selling flowers for mother's day (91:172). The defendant purchased between \$12.00-\$15.00 worth of flowers and they proceeded to defendant's destination (91:173). Once they arrived, the defendant went to his pocket to give owens \$7.00 for the agreed upon fare (91:174). This was the amount the defendant and owens previously agreed to before the ride (91:175).

Owens then told the defendant that he was going to charge him \$12.00 because it was mother's day, and if he took a regular cab the fare would have been much higher (91:174). An argument ensured and the defendant offered owens \$8.00 for the fare to resolve the conflict (91:175).

Owens refused to accept anything less than \$12.00 and the defendant then placed his money back inside his pocket and went into a residence on appleton avenue (91:176).

On his way to the house, the defendant stopped and points at owens with his finger and told him he was going to report owens to the individual that was the boss at this johnny cab service (91:176). Owens then drove off (91:176).

The defendant also denied that he robbed owens (91:177), and the defendant denied that he was carrying a gun that day (91:177).

Keisha Tucker, who have a child in common with the defendant, initially told the police that she had seen the defendant earlier in the day before the alleged robbery and observed a black handgun fall out of his coat (91:30).

The police reported that Keisha told them she had seen the defendant with the handgun on several other occasions and claims the defendant told her it was a police weapon (91:31). Keisha Tucker denied telling the police she knew it was a real weapon because she had seen the defendant loading bullets into the clip and loading the clip into the gun before (91:32). Keisha Tucker conceded that she had falsely accused defendant of having a gun because she was trying to get him in trouble because he was leaving

to see his girlfriend (91:36&38). Keisha Tucker also testified that she had in the past lied on defendant about carjacking her car with a gun (91:41-42). Keisha also testified that owens came to her house after the alleged robbery and requested that she pay defendant's \$12.00 fare (91:40).

Michelle Tucker, the sister of Keisha Tucker who lived in the same duplex, testified that keisha had once falsely accused the defendant of carjacking her with a gun out of anger (91:15-17).

No firearms were found at the defendant's residence when he was arrested in the bedroom during the early morning hours of May 15,1995 (91:125).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews the circuit court's decision to grant or deny a collateral challenge to a defendant's judgment of conviction and sentences, under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. "The exercise of discretion is not the equivalent of unfettered decision—making." HARTUNG, 306 n.w.2d 16 (1981). To be upheld on appeal, a discretionary act "must demonstrably be made and based upon the facts appearing in the record and in reliance on the appropriate and applicable law."Id.

Moreover, "a discretionary determination must be the product of a rational mental process by which the facts of record and law relied upon are stated and are considered together for the purpose of achieving a reasoned and clear reasonable determination." Id.

Therefore, a court erroneously exercises its discretion when it fails to set forth its reasoning and the facts of record do not support its decision. McCLEARY V. STATE, 182 n.w.2d 512 (1971). Further, a court erroneously exercise its discretion when it proceeds under a mistaken view of the law. COOK V.COOK, 560 n.w.2d 246 (1997); or makes a mistake with respect to the facts which its order and decision is based, DANIEL-NORDIN V. NORDIN, 495 n.w.2d 318, 326 (1993). In the case at bar, defendant will show that not only did the circuit court make a mistake with respect to the facts which its decision is based, but that the court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied

ARGUMENTS

defendant's motion under a mistaken view of the law.

1. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it denied Allen's Wis. Stat.974.06(4) postconviction motion under a mistaken view of the law that STATE V. TILLMAN,696 n.w.2d 574 (wis.app.2005) stand for the proposition that a defendant who fails to [respond] to a No-Merit report would be procedurally barred by STATE V. ESCALONA-NARANJO,185 wis.2d 169 (1994).

Specifically, on March 16,2007, the defendant filed a pro-se motion for postconviction relief pursuant to section 974.06 Wis.Stat. before the trial court alleging that postconviction counsel was ineffective for several reasons.

The defendant supported his motion with the authority of <u>STATE ex rel. ROTHERING V.McCAUGHTRY</u>, 205 wis.2d 675 (ct.app.1996). Under <u>ROTHERING</u>, a defendant may bring a claim under 974.06 wis.stat. The <u>ROTHERING</u> court indicate

that the ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel may be "sufficient reason" under STATE V.ESCALONA-NARANJO, 185 wis.2d 169 (1994), for failing to raise an issue in a previous proceeding.

In the case at bar, here, the circuit court held the defendant had waived the issues because he failed to raise the issues in a [response] to counsel's no-merit report, deciding, <u>TILLMAN</u> holds," defendant's failure to raise issues in response to counsel's no-merit report constitutes a waiver of those issues." (decision and order at pg.2).

This clearly, was a mistaken view of the holding in TILLMAN and the circuit court thus denied defendant's motion under the mistaken view of the law.

The court of appeals in <u>TILLMAN</u> held under the facts and history of that case, that the issues in tillman's current appeal are subject to the procedural bar of <u>THE</u> HOLDING IN ESCALONA-NARANLO, supra.

TILLMAN, stands for the proposition that the procedural bar of ESCALONA-NARANJO, could be applied to a defendants appeal resulting from the denial of a second successive postconviction motion even though the defendant's prior appeal on direct review was processed under the no-merit procedure set forth in WIS.STAT.RULE.809.32.

The <u>TILLMAN</u> court held, that when a defendant's post-conviction [issues] have been addressed by the no-merit procedure under wis.stat.809.32, the defendant may not thereafter [again raise those issues] or other issues that could have been raised in the previous motion, "absent

the defendant demonstrating a sufficient reason for failing to raise those issue previously."

Thus, a clear reading of the holding in <u>TILLMAN</u>, is not that the court in tillman [created] a new procedural bar rule in addition to <u>ESCALONA-NARANJO</u>, but instead, simply [applied] the procedural bar of <u>ESCALONA</u> to tillman appeal because it resulted from a second successive post-conviction motion which raised issues which had been adjudicated under the no-merit procedures.

In the case at bar, the circuit court denied Allen's postconviction motion on the pretenses that his claims are procedurally bar by ESCALONA because he failed to file a [response] to the no-merit report filed by counsel.

The circuit court ruled, that because Allen did not file a [response] to the no-merit report, that <u>TILLMAN</u> mandates that his claims be procedurally bar or waived.

Here, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when it proceeded under a mistaken view of TILLMAN. Specifically, TILLMAN did not stand for the proposition that a defendant who failes to [respond] to a no-merit report would be forever procedurally bar of all subsequent meritorious claims. Contrary, the court of appeals applied the ESCALONA rule to tillman's appeal because it resulted from a [second successive postconviction motion which raised issues which had been previously adjudicated on the merits under the no-merit procedures].

Secondly, [responding] to the no-merit report is a defendant's right and not a matter of obligation if the

defendant wanted to preserve any claims for further review.

In other words, while counsel generally advises the defendant that he could respond to the no-merit report, this notification did not advise that a response was not a matter of [right], but instead, a matter of [obligation] if the defendant wanted to preserve his claim(s) for future review. e.g. see, WILKINSON V.COWAN231 f.3d.347,349 (7th cir.2000). Furthermore, most defendant's have very low reading and writing levels and are unable to respond on their own to the no-merit report and certainly cannot be expected to be able to search the records-as laymans-and discern all issues of arguable merits.

Third, a defendant's 6th and 14th Amendment right to counsel during direct appeal stage, mandates that he receive effective assistance of counsel.STATE V.PITSCH, 329 n.w.2d 711,714 (1985); STRICKLAND V.WASHINGTON,466 u.s.668 (1984). The very fact that a defendant [has counsel] during the no-merit procedures, although counsel files a report arguing any appeal would be frivolous, the defendant cannot be held at fault later for relying on [counsel's] decision to file the no-merit report. If, as here, counsel chooses to file a no-merit report asserting any appeal on behalf of a defendant would be frivolous, a defendant must be allowed a forum for raising issues of merit at a later date should he/she or new counsel discover issues of merit that counsel failed to include in the no-merit report. Fourth, it's true Wis.Stat.rule 809.32 incorporates the no-merit procedure set forth in ANDERS

as well as setting forth more detailed requirements.

In addition to appointed counsel examining the record for potential appellate issues of arguable merit, <u>ANDERS</u> contemplates the appellate court not only examines the no-merit report but also conducts its own scrutiny of the record to see if there are any potential appellate issues with arguable merit. see, <u>ANDERS V.CALIFORNIA</u>, 386 u.s. at 744-45,87 s.ct.1396.

The court's no-merit decision is suppose to set forth the potential appellate issues and explains in turn why each has no arguable merit. However, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has acknowledged that it doesn't always follow the requirements of ANDERS.

Specifically, in <u>STATE V.FORTIER</u>, a court of appeals case decided after <u>TILLMAN</u>, that court conceded that it had overlooked an issue of arguable merit when it reviewed the no-merit report and conducted an independent review of the appellate record, 709 n.w.2d 898 (ct.app.2005).

In <u>FORTIER</u>, the relevant facts are as follow: Fortier was charged with possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, cocaine, contrary to wis.stat.

961.16(2)(b)(1) and 961.41(1m)(cm)(3)(1997-98). The state subsequently filed an amended information, which added two new charges: Fortier pled not guilty to all charges. The case proceeded to a Jury trial. Fortier testified in his own defense and admitted that the drugs were his, but denied intending to sell them and claimed that they were for personal use only. The jury ultimately found fortier guilty

of all three counts. The court sentenced fortier to: (1) six years imprisonment for possession with intent to deliver cocaine; (2) five years imprisonment, to be served consecutive to the other sentences, but stayed and replaced by five years probation, to be served consecutive to the other sentences, for failure to pay controlled substance tax; and (3) six months imprisonment to be served concurrent with the sentence on the first count, for possession of marijuana. The court also imposed two six-month suspensions of fortier's driver's license on counts one and three to run concurrently, as well as an additional six month suspension on count two, to run consecutive to the suspensions on counts one and three. Judgment of conviction was entered accordingly. Fortier filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. Fortier was appointed postconviction counsel who filed a postconviction motion requesting resentencing. The trial court granted fortier's motion for resentencing and vacated the previously imposed sentences. A resentencing hearing was held in front of a judge different from the one who originally sentenced fortier. The new sentences were the same as the original, with a few exceptions. Fortier again filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. He was again appointed new postconviction counsel, who filed a notice of appeal. Fortier's new attorney then proceeded to file a no-merit report with the court of appeals. Fortier was informed of his right to file a [response] to the no-merit report, but did not do so. The only issue addressed by

the no-merit report was whether the circuit court had erroneously exercised its discretion when it resentenced fortier. The court of appeals concluded that, "while the circuit court could have reduced fortier's sentence, it was not required to do so simply because the original sentencing court imposed its sentence, in part, on erroneous information." Accordingly, the court concluded that the record revealed no issues of potentially arguable merit and summarily affirmed the judgment of conviction. Fortier then filed a motion with the trial court asking it to clarify the judgment as to the driver's license revocation to state that the two five-year periods would run concurrently, and to have the revocation commence on the date of conviction, rather than following release. This motion was denied. Fortier again filed with the trial court, a motion for sentence reduction. The trial court issued a decision and order denying fortier's motion.

The trial court based its decision on ESCALONA, and then concluded that fortier was procedurally barred from pursuing the claim: Fortier appealed the order denying his second motion to reduce sentence.

Relevant to the case at bar, fortier argued in his appeal to the court of appeals, that he should not be precluded from raising the issue of a sentence illegally raised upon resentenceing even though he failed to raise it in a [response] to the no-merit report at the time of the original appeal.

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