**RECEIVED** 

04-13-2010

STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** 

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2007AP795

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AARON ANTONIO ALLEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF UNDER WIS. STAT. § 974.06, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DENNIS P. MORONEY, CIRCUIT JUDGE, PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General** 

WILLIAM L. GANSNER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1014627

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The alternative interpretation is a curious reading of the two cases, since their conclusions are not consistent. Tillman held that Escalona-Naranjo barred the defendant from pursuing a new "spin" on a claim previously rejected on a no-merit direct appeal because he "failed to present a sufficient reason" why the new argument was not previously raised. 281 Wis. 2d 157, ¶¶ 21-25. Fortier, conversely, held that a defendant's failure to file a response to a no-merit report did not preclude his pursuing a claim in a subsequent § 974.06 motion. 289 Wis. 2d 179, ¶¶ 25-29. The apparent difference in the case outcomes was the nature and quality of the newly asserted claims. In Tillman, the new claim apparently had no arguable merit; thus, the court of appeals could conclude that the no-merit deliberative process had worked. Fortier, on the contrary, the newly asserted sentencing challenge apparently had more than arguable merit; thus, the court concluded that the no-merit procedures had not been followed and the no-merit process had failed in the sense that an issue of significant merit had been missed. 289 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 27. In actuality, these cases reached different results not because one defendant had a sufficient reason for not raising a claim and the other defendant did not, but because one court concluded its nomerit process had missed no issue of arguable merit and the other court acknowledged its process had failed to identify an issue of substantial merit.

Later argument in this brief will demonstrate that Allen's case is one in which there is no genuine reason to believe that an arguable issue was overlooked in the nomerit process.

> C. The Seventh Circuit's Page v. Frank decision reflects a misunderstanding of Wisconsin postconviction practice that this court can and should eliminate.

Earlier orders of this court (Pet-Ap. 12-13 and Pet-Ap. 14-15) directed the parties to include a discussion of the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in Page v. Frank, 343 F.3d 901 (7th Cir. 2003), with respect to issues identified in the court's orders.

Although the Seventh Circuit in *Page*, at the time it was decided in 2003, did not appear to believe that, as a matter of state law, a Wisconsin defendant must respond to a no-merit report in order to avoid waiver in the state courts, Page does hold that a defendant's failure to respond to a no-merit report in the state courts does not necessarily preclude the defendant from seeking subsequent federal habeas relief on the same claims. Page, 343 F.3d at 909 (holding that Wisconsin's Escalona-Naranjo procedural bar in the no-merit context has not been applied in a "consistent and principled" way, thereby allowing claims to proceed in federal habeas proceedings).

Page is a decision on a Wisconsin prisoner's appeal from a federal district court order denying the prisoner's petition for a writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. § 2254. The prisoner's conviction had been affirmed on direct appeal in the Wisconsin courts on a nomerit appeal. Page, 343 F.3d at 904. In the no-merit process, the prisoner had filed a response to his attorney's no-merit report in which he asserted several issues in

addition to those addressed in counsel's report. *Id.* After the affirmance of his conviction, the prisoner filed a § 974.06 motion raising additional claims; the motion was denied in part because he had failed to show sufficient reason under Escalona-Naranjo why the claims were not raised in the earlier no-merit process. Id. The Wisconsin court of appeals affirmed, ruling that the claims had been waived by the prisoner's failure "to raise these issues in his response to the no-merit brief on direct appeal." Id. On this basis, the federal district court held that the prisoner was not entitled to federal habeas relief on the claims barred in the state courts under Escalona-Naranjo. His waiver of the claims constituted a state law procedural default that barred a federal habeas court's review of the claims. Id.4

The Seventh Circuit disagreed. Ruling on the availability of federal habeas review, not the legality of Escalona-Naranjo, the federal court of appeals held that the Escalona-Naranjo bar in the state courts to the prisoner's assertion of his new claims did not preclude the federal habeas corpus court from reviewing the new The court concluded that various Wisconsin claims. unpublished decisions of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals had ruled inconsistently on whether a defendant's failure to argue ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims in initial direct appeal proceedings in the Wisconsin courts barred a defendant from raising the ineffectiveness claims in later collateral proceedings. *Page*, 343 F.3d at 908-09. As a result, the federal appellate court concluded, the state court preclusion of the claims in the case did not constitute an "adequate" state ground barring review of the claims in the federal habeas proceeding.

While *Page* correctly applied federal law on the existence of an independent and adequate state ground of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If a state court declines to address a prisoner's federal claims because the prisoner failed to comply with a state law procedural requirement, the independent and adequate state grounds doctrine bars federal review of that state court judgment. E.g., Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 729-30 (1991).

decision, it reflects a misunderstanding of Wisconsin postconviction practice in the no-merit appeal context. This is a misunderstanding that this court can eliminate.

Page is a decision on the availability of federal habeas corpus relief to a state prisoner under 28 U.S.C. § 2254. The decision interpreting federal habeas relief under a federal statute has no binding or controlling effect on the Wisconsin courts' interpretation and application of Escalona-Naranjo and Wis. Stat. § 974.06. The federal and state courts are free to provide different procedures for collateral review of a conviction; they have chosen to do so. But this court is the final arbiter of the meaning and application of Wisconsin law. "State courts are the ultimate expositors of their own states' laws," and federal habeas courts are bound by a state's construction of its own law. Cole v. Young, 817 F.2d 412, 416 (7th Cir. 1987). Thus, this court's decision on a matter of Wisconsin postconviction and appellate practice is binding on the Seventh Circuit on the meaning and application of Wisconsin law. A clarifying decision by this court on a point of Wisconsin postconviction practice law will not only guide, but bind, the federal courts.

The Seventh Circuit in *Page* opined that when a state prisoner's postconviction/appellate counsel failed to assert a claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel by a postconviction motion in the state circuit court, and then later filed a no-merit report on direct appeal, that totally precluded the prisoner from asserting a claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel in the direct appeal proceedings. The federal court stated: "It is clear that Wisconsin law would not have permitted Mr. Page to make such an argument before the Court of Appeals of Wisconsin without its having been raised initially before the trial court." *Page*, 343 F.3d at 908-09. Further explaining its understanding of Wisconsin postconviction procedure, the federal court concluded:

The practical effect of the Court of Appeals of Wisconsin's conclusion – that the failure to

identify ineffective assistance of trial counsel as an issue in response to an Anders no-merit brief constitutes a waiver – is to require Mr. Page to have asserted a claim before the court of appeals that, under established Wisconsin case law, he could not bring initially in that form because it had not been brought to the attention of the trial court.

Page, 343 F.3d at 909. These statements do not accurately reflect Wisconsin postconviction procedure in the no-merit appeal context.

A Wisconsin defendant can assert a claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel in a response to a no-merit report, even if no postconviction motion on that ground was filed in the circuit court. When it reviews counsel's no-merit report and the defendant's response, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals can then assess whether the ineffectiveness of counsel claim can be decided on the record before it or whether a remand to the circuit court for the filing of a postconviction motion and the conducting of an evidentiary hearing on the motion is appropriate. Wisconsin defendants are not prohibited under Wisconsin law from asserting a claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel in response to a no-merit report.

As this court fully knows, when an attorney appointed to represent a convicted defendant for postconviction/appellate purposes chooses to file a nomerit report, the scope of the appellate court's examination of the case extends beyond the potential appellate issues identified in the attorney's report. The court is obliged under Anders and McCoy to consider any response to the report filed by the defendant and then to independently examine the case record to determine whether it raises any potential arguable basis for challenging the conviction – either on appeal or by a postconviction motion. Accordingly, the result of a nomerit appeal may include the rejection of an attorney's nomerit report and the remanding of the case to the circuit

Filed 04-16-2010

court for the filing of a postconviction motion raising a claim that was either asserted by the defendant in a response to the no-merit report or discerned by the appellate court during its independent review of the case. The question before the court after the filing of the nomerit report is not simply whether an appeal should proceed. The court is authorized and obliged to determine whether the next step should be appellate OR postconviction motion proceedings. These proceedings can clearly encompass a return to circuit court for the filing of a motion asserting claims of trial counsel ineffectiveness.

A Wisconsin defendant whose appointed attorney has filed a no-merit report can file a response to the report asserting the existence of claims not previously raised by postconviction motion in the state circuit court. Indeed, a failure to do so should be regarded as a waiver of those claims under Escalona-Naranjo, unless a sufficient reason is demonstrated for the defendant's failure to raise them. A later assertion of the claims in a § 974.06 motion should be held procedurally barred under Escalona-Naranjo. The enforcement of that state procedural bar and rule - if applied in a consistent fashion in the Wisconsin courts – would be recognized in a later federal habeas corpus action as an independent and adequate state ground for decision precluding federal habeas review of the underlying claim under the federal habeas law of procedural default. In this manner Wisconsin's enforcement of its state procedural rules would be recognized and honored by the federal courts in habeas corpus actions.

#### Allen defaulted the ineffectiveness D. of counsel claims asserted in his § 974.06 motion.

Contrary to Allen's contentions, the circumstances of this case demonstrate that Allen defaulted on the counsel ineffectiveness claims of his § 974.06 motion by

failing to raise the claims in response to his appointed attorney's no-merit report.

Filed 04-16-2010

Allen's § 974.06 motion, filed in March of 2007, more than six years after his conviction was affirmed on direct appeal, asserted a claim of "cascading ineffective assistance of counsel," Owens v. Boyd, 235 F.3d 356, 358 (7th Cir. 2001). First, he alleged that his postconviction counsel on his direct appeal was ineffective in failing to file a postconviction motion alleging the ineffectiveness of trial counsel for failing to file a motion to challenge his arrest (101:9; R-Ap. 109). Next, he alleged that his postconviction counsel was ineffective in failing to file a postconviction motion challenging the effectiveness of his trial counsel for failing to move for suppression of his identification in a lineup (101:11; R-Ap. 111). Finally, he alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the state's use of evidence of his initial refusal to submit to a lineup (101:13; R-Ap. 113).

This court should uphold the lower courts' rulings that Allen defaulted on these ineffectiveness claims.

# 1. Allen's motion did not claim that he was ignorant of the ineffectiveness claims raised in his § 974.06 motion.

Allen initially argues that his ignorance or unawareness of the ineffectiveness claims – presumably at the time of his no-merit direct appeal – constituted a sufficient reason for his failure to assert them in response to his counsel's no-merit report. The first response to this argument is that no such claim is asserted in Allen's § 974.06 motion; indeed, no reason of any kind is offered in his motion for his failure to raise his ineffectiveness claims at the time of his no-merit direct appeal. Second, it is apparent from the references to the trial transcript in his motion that his ineffectiveness claims arose from events before and at trial – events that Allen must have known at

Filed 04-16-2010

the time or, at the latest, when he reviewed the transcripts after his conviction. Allen also advances the illogical argument that any inference that he knew of the bases for his ineffectiveness claims at the time of his no-merit direct appeal is unfounded, because neither his appointed counsel or the court of appeals raised the claims in the no-merit proceedings. One conclusion is not supported by the other. The fact that neither his attorney or the court raised an ineffectiveness claim may simply have reflected a shared conclusion that the claim would have been frivolous and without arguable merit. In any event, it tells us nothing about when Allen was aware of the claims.

# 2. Allen's failure to respond to the no-merit report waived his ineffectiveness claims.

Since 1994, Escalona-Naranjo has provided that "due process for a convicted defendant permits him or her a single appeal of that conviction and a single opportunity to raise claims of error." Macemon, 216 Wis. 2d at 343. "[C]laims that could have been raised on direct appeal or in a previous § 974.06 motion are barred from being raised in a subsequent § 974.06 postconviction motion absent a showing of a sufficient reason for why the claims were not raised on direct appeal." Lo, 264 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 44 (citing *Escalona*). A no-merit appeal is a direct appeal, and Tillman's explicit application of Escalona to no-merit appeals was hardly a new or unanticipated holding. It was, instead, merely a specific application of the longstanding general rule applicable to direct appeals in Wisconsin. Allen did not allege in his § 974.06 motion that he was unaware of the Escalona-Naranjo rule.

3. Current Wisconsin law imposes no obligation on appointed counsel or court to advise a defendant that a response to a no-merit report is necessary to preserve claims for further review.

As already argued, Escalona-Naranjo has required since 1994 that legal challenges a defendant failed to raise in a direct appeal or initial postconviction motion may not be asserted in a subsequent § 974.06 motion in the absence of a defendant's showing of sufficient reason for the failure. No specific obligation to advise a defendant of the Escalona-Naranjo rule has been imposed upon court or counsel. And Wisconsin law to date has imposed no obligation on appointed counsel or a court to advise a defendant specifically that a response to a no-merit report is necessary to preserve claims for later assertion. The decision whether to impose such an obligation – and upon whom the obligation should rest - is a subject more appropriate for "wise policymaking," Lo, 264 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 56, than constitutional or statutory adjudication.

> 4. Requiring a defendant to respond to a no-merit report with claims he or she believes should be considered on a no-merit direct appeal does not conflict with the right to counsel on direct appeal.

Allen contends that imposing an obligation on defendants to raise potential issues not raised in defense counsel's no-merit report would conflict with the right to counsel on direct appeal. The State views this argument as a non-sequitur. An appointed counsel may justifiably conclude that an identified claim would have no arguable merit and should not be advanced on appeal. defendant may disagree but has no power to force counsel to assert a claim that counsel concludes is frivolous.

Filed 04-16-2010

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